STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

In The Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

JUL 28 2023

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2022-000641

SC Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY

Court of General Sessions

The Honorable Frank R. Addy, Jr., Circuit Judge

Trial Court Case No. 2002-GS-23-09233, 2002-GS-23-09234,

2002-GS-23-09235, 2002-GS-23-09239

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA RESPONDENT,

V.

PATRICK LEE BOOKER APPELLANT.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Patrick Lee Booker

103 Rock Knoll Drive

Greenwood, South Carolina 29649

patrickbooker85@gmail.com

APPELLANT, PRO SE

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN CONCLUDING THAT THE COMMUNITY SUPERVISION PROGRAM IS A COLLATERAL CONSEQUENCE OF SENTENCING AND THAT APPELLANT'S GUILTY PLEA WAS NOT TAKEN IN VIOLATION OF DUE PROCESS RIGHTS?
2. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN CONCLUDING THAT THE DIRECTOR OF PROBATION HAD POWER BY VIRTUE OF SOUTH CAROLINA LAW TO PLACE APPELLANT ON CSP?
3. DOES ALLOWING THE DIRECTOR OF PROBATION TO ALTER THE TERMS OF JUDICIALLY IMPOSED SENTENCES VIOLATE THE SEPARATION OF POWERS DOCTRINE?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Greenville County Grand Jury indicted the Appellant at the October 2002 term of General Sessions for four counts of Armed Robbery (2002-GS-23-9233, -9235, -9237, -9239), and one count of Carjacking (2002-GS-23-9234), among other counts not relevant here.

On October 17, 2008, the Appellant filed an application for post-conviction relief (“PCR”) (2008-CP-23-07865) alleging that his guilty plea had been entered involuntarily due to the failure of the trial judge to inform him of the direct consequence of the mandatory supervision term of the Community Supervision Program (“CSP”).

On January 13, 2010, the PCR judge, the Honorable John C. Few, construed the Appellant’s claim as one for Ineffective Assistance of Counsel² and thereupon found that the PCR application was untimely, successive, and meritless considering the *per curiam* opinion of South Carolina Supreme Court in the matter of Jackson v. State, 349 S.C. 62, 562 S.E.2d 475 (S.C. 2002). Judge Few further concluded that the issue was not ripe for judicial review as the Appellant was not yet participating in the CSP.³

The Appellant timely filed an appeal from Judge Few’s Order of Dismissal to the Supreme Court of South Carolina. On February 17, 2010, the Supreme Court dismissed the appeal, and on February 25, 2010, the Appellant timely filed a petition for rehearing.

3.

² The Appellant framed the issue as a claim of an Involuntary Guilty Plea (attributable to the judge’s failure to inform), not Ineffective Assistance of Counsel (attributable to counsel’s failure to inform). Thus, the issue of “Involuntary Guilty Plea” (which is being now being considered on appeal) was never decided by the PCR judge.

³ Ironically, the conclusion, by Judge Few, that the issue was not ripe for judicial review essentially preserved the issue for future litigation. Thus, Judge Few’s prior findings as to the timeliness, successiveness, and merits were eviscerated by his subsequent conclusion that the issue was not yet ripe. Because the issue on appeal arises out of the Appellant’s participation in the CSP, the matter is now ripe for adjudication.

On April 7, 2010, all five (5) justice members of the Supreme Court of South Carolina denied the Appellant's petition for rehearing. Ironically, those judges did not end the exercise of their authority there however: within the same ORDER denying rehearing, Associate Justices *Kaye Hearn, John Kittredge, Donald Beatty,* and *Costa Pleicones*, led by then-Chief Justice *Jean Toal*, all banded/conspired together to issue a pre-filing injunction against the Appellant's ability to file further collateral challenges to his 2003 guilty plea in the circuit court.⁴ Particularly, all five justice members issued an ORDER prohibiting the Appellant from filing any further collateral actions in the circuit court challenging his 2003 guilty plea without first obtaining permission to do so from the Supreme Court of South Carolina. Each of the five justice members agreed to issue the pre-filing injunction without affording the Appellant any semblance of due process or equal protection of the law, in making the injunction.⁵

4.

⁴ Despite their cognizance of the fundamental tenets of both their oath of office and of Due Process/ Equal Protection of Law, all five justice members decided to issue an Order restricting the Appellant's statutory right to access to the circuit court, ***without affording Appellant any notice or opportunity to be heard.*** Cf. ***State v. Parker***, 7 S.C. 235 (S.C. 1876) ("A Judge has no power of his own mere motion to make an order in a cause affecting the rights of a party.").

⁵ Inasmuch as the Supreme Court had already dismissed the PCR appeal initially (without any consideration for, or even a request for, a pre-filing injunction), there was no legitimate reason to restrict the Appellant from filing ***in another court***, except as to hinder, prevent, and obstruct the Appellant in the free exercise and enjoyment of his statutory right (S.C. Code of Law, Section 17-27-20) to file PCR applications in the circuit court. Accordingly, all five members of the South Carolina Supreme Court committed a conspiracy against the Appellant's civil rights. See, S.C. Code of Laws, Section 16-5-10, "***Conspiracy Against Civil Rights***," which makes it a felony offense "***for two or more persons to band or conspire together... to hinder, prevent, or obstruct a citizen in the free exercise and enjoyment of any right or privilege secured to him by the Constitution and laws of the United States or by the Constitution and laws of this State.***" If no conspiracy, why then did they refuse to afford the Appellant notice and opportunity to be heard prior to issuing an Order restricting the enjoyment of his right to freely file in circuit court?

On August 10, 2020, after having served more than eighteen (18) years of imprisonment, the Appellant was released from the South Carolina Department of Corrections. The prison authorities who released the Appellant provided him with a copy of SCDPPPS Form 1150 "COMMUNITY SUPERVISION PROGRAM CERTIFICATE" wherein the Director of the South Carolina Department of Probation, Parole, and Pardon Services ordered the Appellant's entrance and participation in the mandatory Community Supervision Program (CSP) and imposed several terms and conditions for the Appellant to comply with including, but not limited to, the condition that Appellant pay a supervision fee as determined by the SCDPPPS. (ROA at Pg. 1).

The Appellant refused pay any of the supervision fees. By letter dated October 15, 2021, the SCDPPPS forwarded the Appellant a letter entitled "Notice Letter to Debtor" wherein that administrative agency stated that Appellant owed the SCDPPPS a debt for a certain amount, and notified the Appellant of its "intention to submit th[e] debt to the South Carolina Department of Revenue for the calendar year 2021 for collection through the Setoff Debt Collection Act" if the Appellant failed to pay the debt within thirty (30) days from the date of the notice. (ROA at Pg. 2).

By letter dated November 10, 2021, the Appellant notified the SCDPPPS' Office of General Counsel of his legal challenge to the authority of the SCDPPPS' over him. (ROA at Pg. 3-8).

By Citation dated April 7, 2022, the SCDPPPS' Agent Richard K. Williams charged the Appellant with knowingly and willfully violating the conditions of CSP based upon the Appellant's refusal to pay the supervision fees. (ROA at Pg. 9).

At a hearing held on April 18, 2022, before the Honorable Frank R. Addy, SCDPPPS Agent Williams alleged that the Appellant was in violation of the conditions of the CSP based upon the Appellant's knowing and willful refusal to pay the supervision fees.

In defense to the Citation and allegation that he was in violation of the CSP, the Appellant interposed two arguments: that he did not owe the fees because (1) the CSP requirement rendered his guilty plea involuntary because it was a direct consequence of his guilty plea of which he was not informed at the time of his plea thereby making the plea null and void, as having been taken in violation of due process; and (2) because the CSP requirement had not been imposed as part of his sentence by Judge Miller the SCDPPPS Director did not possess the power nor authority to alter the terms of Judge Miller's sentence. Appellant provided Judge Addy a memorandum of law to consider, detailing his argument.(ROA at Pg.10-15)

Judge Addy, after taking the matter under advisement, issued an "**ORDER CONCERNING COMMUNITY SUPERVISION FEES**", dated April 28, 2022,

wherein he found that considering *Jackson v. State, supra*, the imposition of Community Supervision, and the accompanying fees to pay for Appellant's supervision under that program, is a collateral consequence of sentencing. (ROA at Pg.31). Judge Addy found, therefore, that the plea was not taken in violation of Appellant's due process rights and ordered the Appellant to pay the fees associated with his supervision under the CSP. (ROA at 31). Judge Addy did not decide-at that time-the Appellant's alternative argument challenging the power and authority of the SCDPPPS Director to alter the terms of Appellant's sentence through his administrative imposition of the CSP upon the Appellant.

In order to protect the justiciability of this appeal, Judge Addy required the Appellant to deposit his outstanding supervision fee balance with the clerk of court pending resolution of this appeal. (ROA at Pg. 31).

After the Appellant initially failed to deposit the outstanding supervision fee balance with the clerk of court, the SCDPPPS served another Citation on Appellant and caused the matter to be brought back before Judge Addy on August 15, 2022. At that hearing the Appellant informed Judge Addy that he had failed to address the Appellant's alternative argument that the SCDPPPS Director did not possess the power or authority to alter the terms of the Appellant's sentence. (ROA at Pg 42) In

support of his alternative argument, the Appellant explained to Judge Addy that the CSP was not ordered by Judge Miller at the time of the his sentence and therefore the CSP was not entered upon the records of the court as being a part of the terms of the Appellant's sentence and that in *Hill v. Wampler* the U.S. Supreme Court held that the only sentence known to the law is the one entered upon the records of the court. (ROA at Pg. 43). The Appellant further explained to Judge Addy that a matter-- materially indistinguishable to the Appellant's situation--was decided by the Honorable Sonia Sotomayor in the case of *Earley v. Murray*, and the Appellant provided Judge Addy a memorandum of law to consider. (ROA at Pg. 43).

Notwithstanding his judicial oath to rule only after considerate deliberation, Judge Addy decided from the bench that the SCDPPPS Director had the power and authority by virtue of South Carolina law to place the Appellant into the CSP, without first reviewing or considering either of the two on-point, federal appellate decisions cited by Appellant.⁶ 8.

⁶ By "**rejecting out of hand**" the Appellant's citation to a U.S. Supreme Court opinion (that the only sentence known to the law is the one entered upon the records of the court) as well as the Appellant's citation to a decision (that an administrator cannot alter a judicially imposed sentence) rendered by a federal circuit judge (who is now a federal associate justice) on a matter alleged to be materially indistinguishable, Judge Addy apparently believed that South Carolina law is the only law he is to be guided and bound by. The Appellant, a certified Legal Assistant/Paralegal, is of the opinion that it is discourteous, if not disrespectful, for a judge, **when ruling from the bench**, to refuse or otherwise to fail to "**first review and consider**" a U.S. Supreme Court opinion (or any other legal/judicial opinion) once it has been interposed by a party (or his authorized representative) as either "on-point/binding precedent" or as being "materially indistinguishable" to the case before the judge. Once it is interposed that a cited case holding is on-point/binding or materially indistinguishable, it becomes incumbent upon the judge to discern for him/herself the relevancy of the cited authority. Even if the judge concludes the cited opinion is irrelevant/inapplicable, he or she would have discharged that vital part of the judicial oath: to rule only after considerate deliberation.

Thereafter, Judge Addy again ordered the Appellant to deposit the outstanding supervision fee balance with the clerk of court. The Appellant subsequently complied with Judge Addy's order, and Judge Addy issued a "**SUPPLEMENTAL ORDER CONCERNING COMMUNITY SUPERVISION FEES**" dated September 1, 2022, wherein he memorialized the nature of the proceedings, ordered the Appellant's release from the CSP, and noted that the release must not affect the justiciability of this appeal. (ROA at Pg. 54-55).

By letter dated August 22, 2022, the Appellant sought and obtained from the SCDPPPS, pursuant to the Freedom of Information Act, the exact number of criminal defendants who have been placed into the CSP by the SCDPPPS, *without a court-order for such placement*, including the exact dollar amount that each affected criminal defendant have paid in supervision fees from 1996 until 2022. The data provided by the SCDPPPS indicates that it has collected more than twenty million (\$20,000,000) dollars in supervision fees from fifteen thousand-nine hundred and eighty-three (15,983) criminal defendants placed into the CSP by the SCDPPPS from 1996 to 2022. (NOTE: **Due to voluminous amount of data comprised in the pdf. provided by the SCDPPPS, the Appellant will not seek inclusion of the same in the designation of matter to be included on the record on appeal, unless requested by the court.**) This appeal follows.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The appellate court sits to review criminal cases for errors of law only. State v. Wilson, 345 S.C. 1, 5, 545 S. E.2d 827, 829 (2001). This court is bound by the trial court's factual findings unless they are clearly erroneous. Id. at 6, 545 S.E.2d at 829

FACTS

The Appellant was convicted in 2003, after pleading guilty to three counts of Armed Robbery and one count of Carjacking, *inter alia*. At the time of his plea, no one informed the Appellant that he would be subjected to a mandatory supervision term following his release from confinement.

On August 10, 2020, the Appellant was released from the South Carolina Department of Corrections (“SCDC”) and was placed into the community supervision program by the SCDPPPS, pursuant to an administrative order titled Community Supervision Program Certificate⁷. (ROA at Pg. 18)

10.

⁷ SCDPPPS Form 1150 “COMMUNITY SUPERVISION PROGRAM CERTIFICATE” provides: ***Know all men by these presents:*** It having been made to appear to the satisfaction of the SOUTH CAROLINA DEPARTMENT OF PROBATION PAROLE AND PARDON SERVICES that the offender [BOOKER, PATRICK] was convicted of the offense(s) [ARMED ROBBERY, AND CARJACKING] and in GREENVILLE COUNTY meets the requirements for Community Supervision Program as provided for in Section 24-21-560 of the South Carolina Code of Laws 1976, as amended.

It is therefore ORDERED that [BOOKER, PATRICK] enter the Community Supervision Program at the end of his or her active sentence under supervision subject to the specific conditions listed herein until the expiration of this Community Supervision Program as indicated below.

This release shall not prevent the delivery of the prisoner to authorities of the Federal Government, or any state otherwise entitled to his or her custody. BY Order of SCDPPPS. (ROA at Pg. 1)

ARGUMENTS

1. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN CONCLUDING THAT THE COMMUNITY SUPERVISION PROGRAM IS A COLLATERAL CONSEQUENCE OF SENTENCING AND THAT APPELLANT'S GUILTY PLEA WAS NOT TAKEN IN VIOLATION OF HIS DUE PROCESS RIGHTS.

The conclusion by Judge Addy that the Community Supervision Program (CSP) is a collateral consequence of sentencing is based on the opinion of the South Carolina Supreme Court in the matter of Jackson v. State, 349 S.C. 62, 562 S.E.2d 475 (2002).

The *per curiam* opinion rendered by the Supreme Court in Jackson, supra, is erroneous however, and the Appellant hereby utilize this criminal appeal to argue against that erroneous precedent.⁸

The Supreme Court in Jackson v. State granted certiorari "to determine whether participation in a 'community supervision program'[] is a collateral consequence of sentencing." Id. After a very *cursory* analysis⁹, it held that it is. Id.

11.

⁸ Inasmuch as the Appellant is arguing against Supreme Court precedent, he hereby moves to certify this appeal for review by the Supreme Court pursuant to Rule 204, SCACR.

⁹ The analysis in Jackson was so *cursory* that the court erroneously stated (in the first paragraph) that the community supervision program was defined in S.C. Code Ann. Section 24-13-100 (Supp. 2001). Contrary to the Supreme Court's "analysis", that section of law does not define (or even mention) the community supervision program.

In that case the petitioner Freddie Jackson entered a guilty plea to a “no parole offense” which subjected him to the provisions of S.C. Code of Laws, Section 24-21-560(A) “**Community Supervision Program**” which reads, in relevant part, as follow: “Notwithstanding any other provision of law, ..., any sentence for a ‘no parole offense’ as defined in Section 24-13-100 must include any term of incarceration and completion of a community supervision program operated by the Department of Probation, Parole, and Pardon Services.”

Mr. Jackson challenged his conviction by contending that his guilty “plea was involuntary because his trial counsel was ineffective in failing to inform [him] about the [Community Supervision Program] in advising him whether to plead guilty.” *Jackson, supra*. The state Supreme Court disagreed with Mr. Jackson’s argument, stating: “In our view, the [CSP] serves essentially the same function for persons convicted of ‘no parole offenses’ as parole does for other inmates. It is well settled that parole eligibility is a collateral consequence of sentencing, and that trial counsel need not advise a client of his parole eligibility, [], or ineligibility, [], in order to render effective assistance.” *Jackson, supra*.

That narrow, cursory analysis (i.e. “in our view, the [CSP] serves essentially the same function...as parole does”) is where the state Supreme Court went wrong. That

is because, regardless of whether in *its view* the CSP “serves essentially the same function as paroles does”, the *Jackson* court was supposed to analyze the “*result*”¹⁰ of the CSP, not its *function*¹¹, in assessing the consequences of the CSP. See, Cuthrell v. Director, Patuxent Institution, 475 F.2d 1364 (4th Cir. 1973) (“The distinction between ‘direct’ and ‘collateral’ consequences of a plea...turns on whether the *result* represents a definite, immediate and largely automatic effect on the range of the defendant’s punishment.”) (emphasis added).

When correctly analyzed it becomes obvious and clear that the CSP (i.e., a mandatory term of post-release supervision) is not a “collateral consequence of sentencing” but rather it is a *direct consequence of a plea/conviction*. In support of this argument, the Appellant hereby adopts and incorporates herein by reference the sound judicial wisdom of the *en banc* decision of the Supreme Court of Washington in the matter of State v. Ross, 129 Wash. 2d 279, 916 P.2d 405 (1996) as well as the decision of the New York Court of Appeals in the matter of People v. Catu, 4 NY3d 242, 244, 825 N.E.2d 1081 (2005) for the proposition that where a “statute imposes a mandatory parole term to be served following completion of the period of

13.

¹⁰ The definition of “**Result**” in the Merriam-Webster Dictionary is: “something that results as a **consequence**, issue, or conclusion.”

¹¹ The definition of “**Function**” in the Merriam-Webster Dictionary is: “the action for which a person or thing is specially fitted or used or for which a thing exists: **purpose**.”

confinement, the parole term necessarily is a direct consequence of the guilty plea.”
Carter v. McCarthy, 806 F.2d 1373 (9th Cir. 1986).

Therefore, the conclusion by the Jackson court and hence Judge Addy that the CSP, and the accompanying fees under the CSP, is a collateral consequence of sentencing, was an error of law. Accordingly, the *per curiam* opinion in Jackson and Judge Addy’s judgment--which was based upon Jackson--must be reversed.

Because the CSP is indeed a direct consequence of a plea for which a defendant must be made aware prior to pleading guilty in order for the plea to comport with due process requirements (a plea of guilty can be voluntary only if it is "entered by one fully aware of the direct consequences" of his plea. Brady v. United States, 397 U.S. 742, 749), the failure to inform the Appellant that his sentence would include a mandatory supervision term following his release from confinement deprived him of due process of law, rendering his guilty plea involuntary and invalid.¹²

Therefore, the conclusion by Judge Addy that the Appellant’s plea was not taken in violation of due process was an error of law. Accordingly, the Judge Addy’s judgment must be reversed, and the Appellant’s guilty plea must be vacated.

¹² In Lane v. Williams, 455 U.S. 624 (1982) the Supreme Court “granted certiorari to consider whether the failure of the trial court to advise respondents of [the] mandatory parole requirement prior to accepting their guilty pleas deprived them of due process of law.” The Appellant will seek certiorari in the U.S. Supreme Court if necessary.

2. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN CONCLUDING THAT THE DIRECTOR OF PROBATION HAD POWER BY VIRTUE OF SOUTH CAROLINA LAW TO PLACE APPELLANT ON CSP.

At the hearing held on August 15, 2022, before Judge Addy, the Appellant argued that he did not pay any of the supervision fees that the SCDPPPS claimed he owed because “the administrative order entered by Jerry Adger, the Director of the Department of Probation, Pardon, and Parole Services, [] is null and void to the extent that it alters the terms of [the Appellant’s] sentences as judicially imposed.” (ROA at Pg. 42, Tr. pg. 4, lines 15-19).

The Appellant clarified his legal proposition stating: “My position is that my sentence, as entered on the records in the Thirteenth Judicial Circuit, entered by Judge Miller, does not include an order, a directive, or instruction for me to enter and complete the Community Supervision Program, and that is determinative because my judicially imposed sentence on these indictments does not include a judicial order for me to complete the program.” (ROA at Pg 42 Tr. pg. 4, lines 7-17)

The Appellant’s argument is derivative of the sound judicial wisdom of the Honorable Sonia Sotomayor when she, along with other judicial panelists, applied a

principle of law enunciated by the United States Supreme Court, and articulated in the matter of Earley v. Murray,¹³: (1) the only sentence known to the law is the sentence or judgment entered upon the records of the court, and (2) the judgment of the court establishes a defendant's sentence, and that sentence may not be increased by an administrator's amendment.

Without first reviewing or considering the afore-said principles of law established by the United States Supreme Court, and articulated by the United States Court of Appeals, Judge Addy gave a very cursory¹⁴ response to the Appellant's argument stating "Mr. Booker, I'll note your argument. To the extent that the Court needs to rule on the question of whether the director of triple 'P' had authority to put you on community supervision, the Court will conclude for purposes of your appeal, [] that he did possess that authority by virtue of South Carolina law." (ROA at Pg.46, Tr. pg. 8, lines 12-18).

When Judge Addy asked whether there was a response to anything that had been presented by the Appellant, counsel for the SCDPPPS responded, "[n]o, Your Honor. I would agree with your position that 24-21-560 does confer that authority

¹³ Earley v. Murray, 451 F.3d 71, (2nd. Cir. 2006), rehearing denied Earley v. Murray, 462 f.3d. 147 (2nd. Cir. 2006).

¹⁴ Rendering "cursory" decisions defies the Judge's Oath which pledges, *inter alia*, to rule after *considerate deliberation*.

to the director and the Circuit Court maintains jurisdiction to order any payment.”
(ROA at Pg. 46, Tr. pg. 8, lines 21-24).

The pertinent language of S.C. Code of Laws, Section 24-21-560(A) reads: “any sentence for a ‘no parole offense’ must include any term of incarceration and completion of a community supervision program operated by the Department of Probation, Parole, and Pardon Services.”

A cursory analysis of the above-quoted *italicized* statutory language could lead one to conclude that the CSP is apart of a defendant’s sentence by operation of law AND that the director of probation, parole, and pardon services possesses the authority “by virtue of South Carolina law” to place a defendant into the CSP. However, after “*considerate deliberation*” of controlling principles of law, one will come to realize that: (1) only a judge can impose a sentence; (2) a judicially-imposed sentence includes only those elements explicitly ordered by the sentencing judge and entered upon the records of the court; and (3) “the only sentence known to the law is the sentence imposed by the judge; any additional penalty added to that sentence by another authority is invalid, regardless of its source, origin, or authority until the judge personally amends the sentence. [...], a sentence cannot contain elements that were not part of a judge’s pronouncement. The fact that [a state] law mandates a

different sentence than the one imposed may render the sentence imposed unlawful, but it does not change it. The sentence imposed remains the sentence to be served unless and until it is lawfully modified.” Earley, 462 F.3d. at 149.

Any argument by the State that the CSP term was “imposed” at the Appellant’s sentencing because it was always part of the “no parole offense” sentence handed down by Judge Miller is simply incorrect. Whatever conceptualization the State has about the function of South Carolina law section 24-21-560, it “cannot operate to undermine the protections contained in the Federal Constitution. And as *Wampler* requires the custodial terms of sentences to be explicitly imposed by a judge, any practice to the contrary is simply unconstitutional and cannot be upheld.” *Id.*, *Earley*, 462 F.3d at 149.

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