STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

RECEIVED

FEB 24 2023

SC Court of Appeals

Appeal from the Circuit Court
The Honorable Frank R. Addy, Jr., sitting in Greenwood County

Trial Court Case No. 2002GS2309233, 2002GS2309234,
2002GS2309235, 2002GS2309239 (Greenville County)

Appellate Case No. 2022-000641

PATRICK LEE BOOKER, APPELLANT

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA, RESPONDENT

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

**Jessica E. Kinard
Legal Counsel**

**South Carolina Department of Probation,
Parole and Pardon Services
P.O. Box 207
Columbia, South Carolina 20202
(803) 734-9220**

ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

- 1. The Community Supervision Program is a collateral consequence of sentencing and, therefore, the trial court did not err in finding Appellant's guilty plea was entered properly and in accordance with his due process rights.**

Appellant styles this matter as a criminal appeal in which he challenges the validity of his guilty plea, but to treat it as a direct criminal appeal or post-conviction relief application would be inappropriate. Appellant should not receive the opportunity to litigate the validity of his plea at this juncture after filing several post-conviction relief applications and other lawsuits regarding these same convictions. Regardless, Respondent recognizes Appellant's ability to appeal the decision of the Honorable Frank R. Addy, Jr. regarding Appellant's requirement to pay fees associated with his participation in the Community Supervision Program (CSP). Because his participation in CSP is bound up in these legal arguments that have been previously litigated, Respondent is compelled to address them to some degree.

The threshold issue in this argument is whether CSP is a collateral or direct consequence of sentencing. This is fundamental because it is well-settled South Carolina law that collateral consequences do not have to be disclosed to or discussed with a defendant prior to entry of a guilty plea or sentencing.

The imposition of a sentence may have a number of collateral consequences, however, and a plea of guilty is not rendered involuntary in a constitutional sense if the defendant is not informed of the collateral consequences. Parole eligibility typically is a collateral consequence of sentencing about which a defendant need not be specifically advised before entering a guilty plea. This is because parole eligibility is not a matter within the jurisdiction of the trial court, but falls within the province of the Board of Probation, Parole, and Pardon Services.

Brown v. State, 306 S.C. 381, 382-83, 412 S.E.2d 399, 400-01 (1991).

Though CSP is explicitly different from parole, it is similar in function and supervision. Notably, it is also supervised by Respondent, Department of Probation, Parole, and Pardon

Services. CSP has specifically been held to be a collateral consequence of sentencing via our Supreme Court in the opinion of Jackson v. State, 349 S.C. 62, 562 S.E.2d 475 (2002). Judge Addy relied upon this opinion for his reasoning and Appellant asserts both he and the South Carolina Supreme Court spent too little time and consideration analyzing the issue. He avers that, had further analysis been correctly conducted, one would see that CSP is a direct consequence rather than collateral.

To support this theory, Appellant presents case law from around the country, most of which is not binding upon this court. Regardless, these cases hold that when the law requires mandatory supervision “to be served following completion of the period of confinement, the parole term necessarily is a direct consequence of the guilty plea.” Carter v. McCarthy, 806 F.2d 1373 (9th Cir. 1986). These cases concern actions taken by states to impose a period of supervision after an offender is tried, sentenced, and released from incarceration, thus creating direct (rather than collateral) consequences that have a “definite, immediate and largely automatic effect on the range of defendant’s punishment.” Cuthrell v. Director, Patuxent Institution, 475 F.2d 1364 (4th Cir. 1973).

CSP is not a mandatory parole term, despite Appellant’s arguments to the contrary. Conversely, CSP functions by decreasing the amount of time an offender spends in an institution by allowing them to earn good time credits and receive other benefits, thus allowing them to spend up to 15% of their sentence in the community. This time in the community is part of an offender’s original sentence and does not add any time to his punishment, which was contemplated and forbidden in the cases cited by Appellant. The South Carolina Supreme Court has specifically held that length of service on CSP, when combined with actual carceral time, may not exceed the length of the original sentence. State v. McGrier, 378 S.C. 320, 332, 663

S.E.2d 15, 21 (2008). This crucial aspect differentiates CSP from the other examples Appellant puts forward.

Because CSP is clearly a collateral consequence of a conviction, it is viewed like parole and does not have to be explained to a defendant before plea entry or sentencing. Randall v. State, 356 S.C. 639, 591 S.E.2d 608 (2004); Griffin v. Martin, 278 S.C. 620, 300 S.E.2d 482 (1983). An important corollary is that, in order for a defendant to show that he deserves relief from a guilty plea he believes was improperly entered, he must show that he was actively misinformed about parole eligibility and he relied on that information. Griffin, 278 S.C. at 621, 300 S.E.2d at 483. Because he has not met this burden, Appellant cannot receive relief on this ground.

2. Statutory law vests the Director of the South Carolina Department of Probation, Parole and Pardon Services with the authority to administer the Community Supervision Program, which does not alter the terms of a defendant's original sentence.

Appellant argues that, because participation in the Community Supervision Program (CSP) was not specifically included in the pronouncement of his sentence, it is unconstitutional for S.C. Code Ann. § 24-21-560 to allow the Director of the South Carolina Department of Probation, Parole and Pardon Services to sign a certificate admitting him to the program. He argues that the trial judge committed an error of law in determining otherwise and ordering him to pay supervision fees.

To support his proposition, Appellant looks to Earley v. Murray, 451 F.3d 71 (2nd Cir. 2006).² He states that the court found “(1) the only sentence known to the law is the sentence or

² Appellant repeatedly states that this is the opinion of now-Supreme Court Justice Sonia Sotomayor, perhaps in order to lend it weight. Though she sat on the hearing panel, the opinion was written by Chief Judge John M. Walker, Jr. Further, though Appellant initially cites the main

judgment entered upon the records of the court, and (2) the judgment of the court establishes a defendant's sentence, and that sentence may not be increased by an administrator's amendment." Initial Brief of Appellant, p.16. Respondent agrees with these holdings and acknowledges the veracity thereof; however, these do not pertain to the issue at hand.

In Earley, petitioner's sentence was administratively amended after the entry of his guilty plea to add a five-year term of post-release supervision. This was done because the State of New York passed a law mandating such service, but none of the attorneys, parties, or the judge in the guilty plea were aware at the time. It was not until the Department of Corrections actually added this time to his sentence that Earley became aware of the situation.

Appellant likens his situation to Earley's due to his misapprehension of the actual nature of CSP. As discussed in Argument 1, CSP does not constitute an addition or extension of an inmate's sentence, but rather allows them to serve the end of their sentence outside of prison walls. The involvement of SCDPPPS's Director is administrative in the most basic sense of the word – someone must develop the guidelines for the program and authorize the transition from prison to the community. This power is granted to the Director by statute, and it was in place many years before Appellant entered his plea.³

In sum, there was no administrative addition to Appellant's sentence that would be violative of the case law he cites or any other law preventing amendment of a sentence issued by a trial judge. At the time of the entry of his plea and now, CSP was a collateral consequence of sentencing that allows an offender to serve part of their previously mandated sentence outside

opinion in Earley v. Murray, he repeatedly cites to a second opinion at 462 F.3d 147, which denied Respondent Murray's petition for rehearing.

³ CSP took effect January 1, 1996. *See* 1995 S.C. Laws Act 83 (H.B. 3096).

prison walls. Because Appellant has failed to present any issues that constitute error on the part of the trial court, he cannot receive relief on this ground.

3. The Director of the South Carolina Department of Probation, Parole and Pardon cannot and does not alter offenders' sentences, therefore no separation of powers violation can be found.

As a threshold matter, this argument is not preserved for review and, as such, should not be considered by this court. This argument was neither raised nor ruled upon by the trial court. For an issue to be preserved for appellate review pursuant to our issue preservation requirements, the issue must have been: (1) raised to and ruled upon by the trial court; (2) raised by the appellant; (3) raised in a timely manner; and (4) raised to the trial court with sufficient specificity. State v. Rogers, 361 S.C. 178, 183, 603 S.E.2d 910, 912-913 (Ct. App. 2004) (citing JEAN HOEFER TOAL ET AL., APPELLATE PRACTICE IN SOUTH CAROLINA 57 (2nd ed. 2002) (identifying the four requirements that must be met in order for an issue to be properly preserved for appellate review)); cf. Sevens & Wilkinson of S.C., Inc. v. Cty. of Columbia, 409 S.C. 563, 567, 762 S.E.2d 693, 695 (2014) (“Issue preservation rules are designed to give the trial court a fair opportunity to rule on the issues, and thus provide the Court with a platform for meaningful appellate review.”)).

If an issue is not presented to and ruled upon by the circuit court judge, it cannot be raised for the first time to the appellate court. State v. Freiburger, 366 S.C. 125, 135, 620 S.E.2d 737, 742 (2005). Constitutional arguments are no exception to the issue preservation rule. State v. Carlson, 363 S.C. 586, 595–96, 611 S.E.2d 283, 288 (Ct. App. 2005); see, e.g., State v. Owens, 378 S.C. 636, 664 S.E.2d 80 (2008) (confrontation clause and due process arguments not preserved for review). Accordingly, the argument now made on appeal—that Petitioner’s constitutional rights

were violated by a violation of the separation of powers doctrine—is not preserved for this Court’s review. State v. Jennings, 394 S.C. 473, 481–82, 716 S.E.2d 91, 95 (2011).

Without conceding that the separation of powers argument was not preserved for review, Respondent submits that the Constitution was not violated by operation of CSP or the Director’s actions. The argument, as Appellant makes it, is a reframing of Argument 2 insofar as he criticizes his belief that the Director of SCDPPPS modified the trial court’s original sentence when he signed Appellant’s CSP certificate.

To support his position, Appellant cites the cases of State v. Stevens, 373 S.C. 595, 646 S.E.2d 870 (2007) and State v. Archie, 322 S.C. 135, 470 S.E.2d 380 (1996). Both of these opinions are instances where SCDPPPS inappropriately modified terms of a probationer’s supervision, thus violating separation of powers because it constituted imposition of a sentence. These are distinguishable from the facts at hand because, as argued above, there was no addition to Appellant’s sentence. Rather, his sentence was modified – arguably in his favor – to allow him to serve the end of his prison term in the community rather than behind bars. He was never required to serve a longer or harsher sentence than the one issued at the time of sentencing.